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COWAN  HOUSE  

39 ATHOL STREET WEST
CITY OF OSHAWA

PLAN H50004 BLOCK D LOTS 2, 9, 11, 12, PART 1, 10 IRREGULAR (JOINT WITH ST. GEORGE'S CHURCH) 
PART LOT 11, CONCESSION 1, EAST WHITBY TOWNSHIP 

LOT  HISTORY 
The  Crown patent  for  the  two hundred acres of Lot 11, Concession 1, East Whitby, was issued on 

January 3, 1828, to King's College.  In that year, many of the Clergy Reserves were transferred by  

the Crown to King's College, allowing the College the right to sell or lease each lot to raise  funds. 

In July 1828, an agreement was signed between King's College and Joseph Gorman for the  use  of  

the lot. Gorman bought the parcel in June 1837 and the  following month sold 122 acres to John 

McGrigor  [McGregor]. McGrigor  began to sell  building l ots, then on April 2, 1855, a plan of  

subdivision was registered by Eunice McGrigor.  

 

The subject parcel began as Lots 2 and 12, the north quarter  of  Lot  9, and the north four-fifths of 

Lot  11, Block D, McGrigor's  Plan. The early root of ownership for these lots is not clearly  

defined. Richard Lee Holland may have been the first to assemble the subject parcel in the 1840s.  

 

On January 21, 1858, Georgina  and Richard Holland sold 72 perche1  of Lot 2 (and presumably  

other land) to Elizabeth Sutton.2  It is possible that Elizabeth Sutton and her spouse had a dwelling  

built on the subject property after 1858. By 1868, Elizabeth was a widow in Darlington township.  

 

On  May  23, 1868, druggist  Thomas Charles Sutton and his wife, Elizabeth Mary, of the town of  

Windsor, Essex County, and widow Elizabeth Sutton of the township of Darlington, Durham  

County, sold Lots 2 and 12, the north quarter of  Lot  9, and the  north four-fifths of Lot 11, Block 

D, to Susan Cowan. Susan was the wife of William Frederick Cowan of  Oshawa. The  sale  price  

1 A perch is a measurement about five inches in length. 
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was $2200. 3

WILLIAM F. AND JOHN COWAN

Born in Ulster, Ireland, William Frederick Cowan and his older brother, John, arrived in Toronto 

with their parents and other siblings in 1841. Within a month, their father died of typhoid fever. 

As the two oldest sons in the family, John and William (also known as Frederick) finished their 

schooling and began working in the retail business. In 1856, the brothers opened a dry goods store 

in Toronto, and then a branch store near Port Perry. 

In 1862, a branch store managed by William was opened in Oshawa on King Street West. John 

joined William in Oshawa in 1866 and together they had the commercial Cowan Block built on 

the south side of King Street, west of Simcoe Street. In 1867, John became the manager of 

Oshawa Manufacturing (Cedar Dale Works) farm implements business owned by A.S. Whiting. 

He soon bought out Whiting's partner, E.C. Tuttle. Five years later, he sold his share back to 

Whiting. 

In 1872-73, John and William founded one of Oshawa's larger industries, the Ontario Malleable 

Iron Company, with John as the first and longest serving president. William was vice-president 

until his death in 1918. The Cowans also were associated with T.N. and W.H. Gibbs in 

establishing the Ontario Loan and Savings Co. in 1873 and the Western Bank in 1874. William 

was president of Standard Bank when the Western Bank and Ontario Loan and Savings collapsed, 

along with the Gibbs' fortune, in 1879. The two financial institutions came under the control of 

the Cowans and later merged with Standard Bank. 

In 1902, William Cowan, J.D. Storie, and H.T. Carswell organized the Oshawa Steam and Gas 

Fitting company, renamed Fittings Ltd. in 1910. Through Fittings and their earlier industrial and 

financial dealings, the Cowans amassed a considerable fortune. They always remained committed 

to the wellbeing of Oshawa, serving as trustees for various agencies including the children's 

2 Walter J. Sutton (relationship unknown) is listed in the 1857-58 Canada Directory as a chemist and druggist in 
Oshawa. The name Sutton could not be located in the 1861 census. 
3 The 1857-58 Canada Directory lists an A.B. Sutton as a chemist, druggist, distiller, and wine and liquor dealer in 
Windsor. 
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shelter, Oshawa General Hospital, Board of Education, and Public Library. John was mayor in 

1887. William was on town council for several years and mayor from 1889 to 1894. They both 

were avid supporters of St. George's Anglican church. 

John died, unmarried, on April 8, 1915. William died a widower on October 28, 1918. A brother, 

Robert James, died, unmarried, on February 12, 1920. Frederick William Cowan was the executor 

for his father William, and uncles John and Robert James. 

COWAN HOUSES 
It was Susan, the wife of William Cowan, who bought the subject property on Athol Street West 

in 1868. According to the census, William was 41 in 1871. Susan (Groves), 30, was born in 

Ontario but of Irish background. Their son Frederick was five and born in Ontario. Also in the 

household was Eliza Groves, 34. They owned three quarters of an acre and one house. There is a 

tradition that Frederick was born in the Athol Street house on January 8, 1867. This suggests that 

the Cowans may have first rented the house from Elizabeth Sutton.  

In October 1867, Charlotte Cowan, the widowed mother of William and John, bought a portion of 

Park Lot 2, Plan H50015 ("with other lots"). She bought Park Lot 1 on November 2, 1870. The 

Cowans are believed to have erected a house on this property bounded by Centre, McGrigor, and 

Simcoe streets. According to the 1871 census, Charlotte, 50; John, 35; and another brother, 

Richard (or Robert) James, 28, a clerk, owned five acres and two houses. In 1928, family 

executor Frederick William Cowan, sold to William Eric Phillips and his wife Eileen 

McLaughlin. The Cowan house was demolished to build the dwelling now known as the YWCA 

Adelaide House at 33 McGrigor Street. 

LEWIS  HART LEE 
In June 1875, Susan and William Cowan sold the Athol Street parcel to Lewis Hart Lee. Lee was 

an Oshawa manufacturer. He bought and fully mortgaged the property with William for $6000. It 

is possible that this sale was more a method of exchanging cash for a possible business 

development than Lee's need for accommodation. In November 1878, Lee and his wife, Grace V., 
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sold to the Oshawa Malleable Iron Company, owned by William and John Cowan. By then, Lee 

was a manufacturer living in Toronto. The sale price was again $6000. 

THOMAS  H.  MCMILLAN 
In October 1883, Malleable Iron sold Lot 2, north quarter of Lot 9, and north four fifths of Lot 11, 

Block D, to Thomas H. McMillan, described as an Oshawa bank cashier. The exception was a 

strip of 84 links of the north four-fifths of Lot 11 that had been sold to the Incorporated Synod of 

the Diocese of Toronto. The sale price to McMillan was $2500. 

Thomas McMillan was born on a Pickering township farm in August 1840. His education was at 

a rural school and his business training from working in a general store in a small town for 

several years. As a young man, he moved to Whitby where he established himself as a general 

merchant. There he served on Council, became reeve, and was warden of Ontario County. 

About 1872, McMillan met John and William Cowan who were in the process of forming the 

Ontario Loan and Savings Company. This was during a critical period of Oshawa's history when 

most local industries were financially depressed or recently bankrupt. When the Company was 

organized in 1873, McMillan became the secretary and soon became general manager. His forty 

year legacy was his astute sense of when to offer financial assistance to the people and businesses 

of Oshawa. OL&S closed in 1920 with a history of successful clients from farmers to 

industrialists. 

McMillan also was one of the founders and general manager of the Western Bank of Canada. The 

Bank was an important factor in Oshawa from 1874 until it amalgamated with the Standard Bank 

of Canada in 1909. According to a history of the Western Bank of Canada: 

Thomas Henry McMillan (1839-1917) was a native of the township of Pickering, and was for 
some years in business in Whitby as a general merchant. He is said to have acted as the Whitby 
agent of the Hon. Thos. N. Gibbs. A block of white brick buildings on the east side of Brock 
Street, Whitby, a short distance north of King, still bears the inscription 'T.H. McM., 1864.' While 
quite young he held municipal office in Whitby, serving on the Board of Audit of the county of 
Ontario in 1871 and 1872. He was one of the group which founded the Ontario Loan and Savings 
Company in Oshawa and he managed it from its commencement in 1872 until its liquidation in 
1915. It is said that the idea of this company originated in Whitby, but the majority of the 
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subscribers turning out to be residents of Oshawa, it was opened in that town, and McMillan 
moved there. He also conducted an insurance business in Oshawa. 

According to the 1891 census, Thomas was 51 that year. His wife, Louisa, was 52. She was born 

in Ireland. Their children at home were Ester, 27; Ellen, 25; Harry, 24; Lilly, 20; Maud, 18; 

Arthur, 16; Violet, 14; and Charles, 12. Their dwelling was brick, two storeys, with fourteen 

rooms. Thomas was a banker and Harry a bank clerk. 

In 1901, Thomas (born August 25, 1840) and Louisa (August 10, 1840) had [Ada] (May 14, 

1871); Violet (July 6, 1878); and [Lenor] (August 9, 1882) at home. Their single family house on 

Lot 2 Athol Street was brick with ten rooms. 

Oshawa lost its mainstay of financiers within five years. John Cowan died in 1915, Thomas 

McMillan on May 5, 1917, William Cowan in 1918, and Robert James Cowan in 1920. William's 

son, Frederick, was executor for his father and uncles. Frederick's wife, Lily, was the daughter of 

Thomas and Louisa McMillan. 

On June 10, 1919, the executors for McMillan sold the property to his son-in-law, Frederick 

Cowan for $12,000. For Frederick, this coincidentally was his birthplace and his wife's childhood 

home. In August 1920, he transferred the property to the Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of 

Toronto for the use of St. George's Anglican church as a rectory. A commemorative plaque on the 

house reads: "House and gardens for many years the home of Mr. and Mrs. T.H. McMillan in 

memory of them given by daughter and son-in-law Lily M. and Fred. W. Cowan." 

Frederick and Lily commemorated the accomplishments of their families in several ways. At the 

opening of the new church building in May 1924, Frederick donated a stained glass window in 

memory of his parents, Mr. and Mrs. F.W. Cowan, and his uncles. All were members of the 

church for over fifty years. 
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In 1930, two memorial windows were installed at the rear of the Oshawa branch of the Bank 

of Commerce, formerly the Standard Bank of Canada.4 Thomas McMillan was recognized 

as founder and general manager of the Western Bank of Canada; William Cowan as founder 

and president of the Standard Bank (Canadian Bank of Commerce) from 1883 to 1918. 

ST. GEORGE'S MEMORIAL CHURCH

St. George's Anglican parish was established in 1843. About 1848, the first frame church 

was built at the northeast corner of King Street and Park Road. Ten years later, a second 

church was erected at the corner of John and Centre streets. A monument in Memorial Park 

commemorates its location. A frame parsonage built in the 1860s, was replaced about 1876 by 

a brick building. The parsonage was on the site of the present church building. 

Fundraising began in 1914 for the construction of a new church. In August 1920, 

Frederick Cowan transferred the former McMillan house to the Incorporated Synod of the 

Diocese of Toronto for use as a rectory. The cornerstone of the new church building, St. 

George's Memorial Church, was laid on October 7, 1922. It opened in May 1924, the year 

Oshawa became a City. In 1953, a new parish hall was attached to the church through the choir 

vestry. 

By 1962, the downtown location of the McMillan house rectory made it no longer suitable as 

a family home. Another rectory building was acquired and the house was converted to 

meeting rooms for parish groups and an apartment for assistant curates. 

In 1976, a Cowan House Committee was formed by the church "to research the needs of 

the parish to fulfill its responsibilities as the Body of Christ in the community, with special 

regard to making the best use of the building." In 1978, plans were approved for the 

revitalization of the historic building into a Parish House. On September 17, there was a service 

of Holy Eucharist and the Rededication of Cowan House. It now (2002) contains offices for 

the parish clergy and secretarial staff as well as meeting rooms. 5

ARCHITECTURE

 

4 The Bank of Commerce, Oshawa branch, was located at the northeast corner of King and Simcoe streets in 1930. 
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DATE OF CONSTRUCTION

In 1858, Elizabeth Sutton bought a larger parcel of land that contains the subject property. By 

1868, she was a widow living in Darlington township. It is possible that the house was 

constructed in this decade of Sutton ownership. William Cowan arrived in Oshawa in 1862. He 

and his wife Susan's first child, Frederick, is believed to have been born in the house in January 

1867. Susan bought the property in May 1868 from Thomas C. Sutton of Windsor and Elizabeth 

Sutton, a widow in Darlington township. There is no tradition that the Cowans built the house. 

A reminiscence about the McMillan house appears in a history of St. George's written by 

Kathleen M. Rose. The reminiscence is presumed to be that of Lily Cowan, who lived in the 

house from 1883 (when she was age eleven):6

I recall the entrance hall with the drawing room on the left and the sitting-room on the right, both 
with a fireplace; adjoining the sitting-room was the dining room, and the kitchen beyond. Later 
the dining-room was considerably enlarged, and a stairway added from it, which led up to the 
bedrooms that were built on to the back of the house. (This stairway is not the stately stairway 
that leads upstairs from the front entrance.) Upstairs there were four or five original bedrooms. 
The house was originally grey brick with white trim and green shutters. (Later it was stuccoed.) 
The walls were very thick. 

There was a long, covered verandah facing the east garden, a high board-fence around the 
property, a tennis court on the east side, a carriage-house and stable facing Centre Street; a cow 
was kept when the children were young, and a horse and buggy until the advent of the motor-car. 
In 1881 the streets were lit by oil lamps, but I do not know what lighting was used in the house at 
that time however, electric lighting was introduced in Oshawa by 1887. 

STYLE AND FORM

This is a rectangular shaped dwelling with a rear addition. The 3-bay front facade faces north to 

Athol Street. Although the main house maintains the symmetry of early Georgian styling, the low 

hip roof and eave brackets give it the flair of the Italianate style. 

Along the east side at the rear there is a two storey, gable roofed structure with a centre Gothic 

gable. This is believed to have replaced a two storey addition at the centre rear that was accessed 

by the middle openings on both storeys. There is a new, flat roofed, one storey entrance at the 

west junction of the addition to the main house. 

5 Some information extracted from "Cowan House" by Ruth Park, St. George's Archivist, 1997; and "St. George's 
Memorial Anglican Church Historical Background." 
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FOUNDATION 

The foundation is unknown but is likely fieldstone. 

WALL CLADDING 

The building was described by a previous occupant as "grey brick with white trim and green 

shutters." Grey is unusual for nineteenth century construction as most bricks were in shades of 

red, red-orange, or buff-yellow. The building is now coated with light grey stucco plaster. 

ROOF 

The roof is a low pitched, hipped type. The cladding is asphalt shingles. The eaves are decorated 

with Italianate style carved brackets positioned along a plain freize. The wood soffit boards are 

tongue and groove. Now missing what was probably a pair of large chimney stacks, the roof 

appears out of proportion for the massing of the dwelling. 

WINDOW  OPENINGS 

The window openings are flat and have been recessed by the buildup of exterior cladding. The 

window trim has been removed and the sashes replaced. The shutters are non functional. The 

centre window of the upper level of the front facade likely was a door opening to access the roof 

of the original portico. Similarly, there is an oversized opening in the centre rear that accessed the 

second storey of the original rear addition. 

PORTICO 

The existing open portico of the front entrance is composed of four turned columns supporting a 

moulded cornice and flat roof. There are remnants of the corner posts of a hand rail that existed 

on the roof. The portico is likely a replacement of the original portico or verandah. 

A former occupant noted that there was a "long, covered verandah facing the east garden." 

DOORCASE 

6 St. George's, Our Heritage: A History of St. George's Memorial Church (Anglican), Oshawa, 1984, p.118. 
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The classical doorcase is an unusual configuration of two narrow sidelights flanking a door-width 

transom. The sidelights are divided from the transom by two carved brackets. Two matching 

brackets divide the sidelights from the wall surface. The panelled wood door is obscured by a 

modern metal storm door. 

SETTING 

At the corner of Athol and Centre streets facing a high rise government building and backed by 

St. George's church, the McMillan house no longer enjoys a residential neighbourhood. Most of 

the grounds have been paved for parking. 

CONDITION 

The style and form of this dwelling have been maintained and some of the revitalization work has 

been sympathetic. The stucco finish and the removal of chimneys, window trim, and other 

original elements detract from its architectural integrity. 

SIGNIFICANCE 
Although some of the architectural integrity of this dwelling at 39 Athol Street West has been 

eroded, it is recognizable as a Georgian style dwelling with Italianate elements. Likely built just 

after 1858 for Elizabeth Sutton (and her husband), the house was the birthplace of Frederick W. 

Cowan in 1867. Frederick was the son of Oshawa manufacturer, William Cowan, and his wife, 

Susan (Groves). It also was the childhood home of Frederick's wife, Lily. Her father, Oshawa 

financier Thomas McMillan, bought the property in 1883 when Lily was about age eleven. The 

property and house were donated in 1920 by Frederick and Lily for use as a rectory for St. 

George's Anglican church. The donation was in memory of Lily's parents, Thomas and Louisa 

McMillan. Now known as Cowan House, the building serves some of the administrative needs of 

St. George's parish. 
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SUMMARY  

lthough some of the architectural integrity of this dwelling at 39 Athol Street West A has been eroded, it is recognizable as a Georgian style dwelling with Italianate 

elements. Likely built just after 1858 for Elizabeth Sutton (and her husband), the house was the 

birthplace of Frederick W. Cowan in 1867. Frederick was the son of Oshawa manufacturer, 

William Cowan, and his wife, Susan (Groves). It also was the childhood home of Frederick's 

wife, Lily. Her father, Oshawa financier Thomas McMillan, bought the property in 1883 when 

Lily was about age eleven. The property and house were donated in 1920 by Frederick and Lily 

for use as a rectory for St. George's Anglican church. The donation was in memory of Lily's 

parent, Thomas and Louisa McMillan. Now (2002) known as Cowan House, the building serves 

some of the administrative needs of St. George's parish. 
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